FILED 03-18-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT III

Case No 2020 AP1813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ASHLEY JEAN CAMPBELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction entered in the Sawyer County Circuit Court, the Honorable John M. Yackel presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did law enforcement violate Ms. Campbell's Fourth Amendment rights by allowing a police canine to enter her vehicle to sniff for drugs in the absence of probable cause?

The circuit court answered no and denied Ms. Campbell's suppression motion. This Court should reverse and remand with directions to grant the suppression motion.

2. Should this Court adopt a broad "instinct" exception for otherwise unlawful dog sniffs?

The circuit court ruled that there is an instinct exception when a canine enters a vehicle based on instinct and without officer facilitation. This Court should decline to adopt the exception.

3. If there is an instinct exception was it met in Ms. Campbell's case?

The circuit court ruled that the canine entered Ms. Campbell's vehicle instinctively and without officer facilitation. If this Court does adopt an instinct exception, the Court should hold that it was not met here.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested given the undeveloped nature of the law at issue in this appeal. A request for publication is not authorized, given that this is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2). However, this Court may decide to convert to a three-judge panel given the novel legal issue presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 15, 2017, Wisconsin State Trooper M. Kraetke observed a vehicle that was missing its front license plate, being operated by a driver who was not wearing a seatbelt. R.25:1-2; App.111-12. He conducted a traffic stop of the vehicle and determined that Ms. Campbell was the driver. Ms. Campbell's driver's license was suspended. R.25:8; App.108. Trooper Kraetke called for a canine unit while addressing the violations.

While Trooper Kraetke was completing a citation, Sergeant Nick Al-Moghrabi of the Sawyer County Sheriff's Department responded to the call. R.25:7. He brought his canine, Trace R.25:7-8, 12; App.107-08, 112. Trace was a highly trained "partner" to Sergeant Al-Moghrabi. R.25:12 App.112. The team had been through extensive training,

¹ These facts were adduced at a motion hearing held on March 28, 2019, at which Sergeant Nick Al-Moghrabi was the State's sole witness.

including many months of training at the St. Paul Police Department. R.25:4; App. 104. In addition to the initial training, the team engaged in mandatory training inhouse every month. R.25:4; App.104. They also trained with a K-9 group that included teams from multiple surrounding counties. *Id.* Sergeant Al-Moghrabi and Trace were first certified by the United States Police K-9 Association in 2013, and were certified annually thereafter. R.25:5; App.105. Trace was trained to detect the odor of several drugs and was also trained in subject search, handler protection, suspect apprehension, obedience, and agility. R.25:6; App.106. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi and Trace always trained as a team. R.25:7; App.107.

Al-Moghrabi Ms. Sergeant approached Campbell's vehicle and identified himself as a K-9 handler. R.25:10; App.110. He explained that he intended to have Trace walk around the vehicle for drugs. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi told Ms. Campbell and her passenger to "[s]tep out here." *Id.* They complied with the directive and stepped out. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi asked them to step back toward Trooper Kraetke's patrol car. R.25:12; App.112. Again, they complied. The driver's side door remained open. R.25:14-15, 25; App.114-15, 125.

Sergeant Al-Moghrabi went to his squad car to retrieve Trace. R.25:12; App.112. He then put Trace on a 6-foot leash with a pinch collar and brought him up to the vehicle. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi "placed [Trace] in a prescribed stance" and commanded him to "start working the vehicle in a scan." *Id.* The sergeant distinguished "scanning" from "detailing."

A scan is where Trace is allowed to sniff around the vehicle without direction, whereas detailing is where Sergeant Al-Moghrabi points out areas for Trace to check. R.25:13; App.113. Trace began sniffing at the front of the vehicle and proceeded down the driver's side. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi kept Trace on a leash. There was "some slack" to the leash, but the sergeant stayed ahead of Trace while holding the leash so that he could "slow [Trace's] search" if necessary and to keep Trace out of traffic. R.25:15; App.115.

Trace then climbed into Ms. Campbell's vehicle through the open driver's side door. R.25:14; App.114. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi testified that Trace entered "without [] direction." *Id.* Trace sniffed intently and scratched at a brown purse on the floor. R.25:16; App.116. This indicated to Sergeant Al-Moghrabi that Trace had detected the odor of a drug. *Id.* Although Trace had not sat down, which was the formal alert he had been taught, the sergeant testified that "it is an alert to me." R.25:17; App.117. The sergeant pulled Trace out of the vehicle, and two "continue[d] working the vehicle." *Id.*

After Trace completed his first circuit around the vehicle, Sergeant Al-Moghrabi started using Trace to detail the vehicle. R.25:17; App.117. As Sergeant Al-Moghrabi was detailing, he directed Trace to enter the vehicle through the driver's side door. *Id.* Trace began biting at the brown bag, demonstrating to Sergeant Al-Moghrabi that "it's clear to me he's not going to leave this item." R.25:18; App.118. At this point, Trace sat down, which was the "full blown alert." R.25:19; App.119.

After the alert, Sergeant Al-Moghrabi took Trace back to the squad car. R.25:18; App.118. He then returned to the vehicle, seized the brown bag, and searched it, finding marijuana. R.25:20, 23; App.120, 123.² The State charged Ms. Campbell with count one, possession of tetrahydrocannabinols (THC), a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(e), and count two, possession of drug paraphernalia, a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1). R.1:1-5.

Ms. Campbell filed a motion to suppress the marijuana, arguing that law enforcement violated her Fourth Amendment rights. R.10:1-7. On March 28, 2019, the circuit court held a hearing on the suppression motion. R.25; App.101-151. The State presented the testimony of Sergeant Al-Moghrabi, as stated above. The State also introduced video footage of the encounter as Exhibit 1. R.30. The footage is approximately four minutes between 20:58 and 25:11. R.25:21-22; App.121-22. Ms. Campbell asks this Court to independently review the footage. See State v. Reed, 2018 WI 109, ¶¶14, 76, 384 Wis. 2d 469, 920 N.W.2d 56 (facts in decision "primarily drawn" from footage where "footage body camera unambiguous and conclusive").3 The video shows that

² A separate argument was not made as to the search of the purse. *See Wyoming v. Houghton*, 526 U.S. 295, 302 (1999) (probable cause to search vehicle includes containers and packages inside).

³ See also, State v. Jimmie R.R., 2000 WI App 5, ¶39, 232 Wis. 2d 138, 606 N.W.2d 196 (1999) (when the only evidence on a factual question is reflected in a video recording, the court of appeals is in the same position as the circuit court to determine a question of law based on the recording).

Trace was leashed at all times. R.30. Sergeant Al-Moghrabi held him a an approximately one-to-two-foot section of leash. R.30: timestamp 22:37. Trace went into the vehicle three separate times. The first two entries occurred in succession during the first circuit around the vehicle. R.30: timestamp 22:43. The third entry occurred during the second circuit. R.30: timestamp 23:50.

After accepting the evidence, the court invited arguments from the parties. R.25:26; App.126. Defense counsel argued that dog sniffs that occur in the interior of a person's vehicle are searches, citing Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1 (2013).⁴ Accordingly, when Trace entered Ms. Campbell's vehicle to sniff inside, a search occurred. R.25:27; App.127. Counsel argued that Trace's entry was tantamount to a human officer's entry: "If a police officer can't reach his hand into it, a dog can't insert its body into it." R. 25:40; App. 140. Finally, the search was conducted probable cause. Therefore. unconstitutional. R.25:28; App.128. Defense counsel noted that it would be different had Trace detected the odor of drugs *prior* to entering the vehicle because in that case, there would have been probable cause to search. R.25:40; App.140.

In its argument, the State proposed an instinct exception for otherwise unlawful dog sniffs. It primarily relied on nonbinding cases from federal

⁴ Here, the term "search" includes both an interior drug sniff and the more traditional search whereby a human officer physically enters and examines the space.

courts, explaining that there was no Wisconsin case to support its argument. R.25:34; App.134. The State argued that when a police dog enters a vehicle based on instinct, a Fourth Amendment search does not occur. "[A]s long as law enforcement does not direct the dog to a location or give a command that says, hey, you need to search here, then it's a fair search." R.25:46; App.146. The State emphasized that Ms. Campbell did not close the door behind her when she was directed out of the vehicle. R.25:33; App.133. Defense counsel countered that law enforcement had control over both Ms. Campbell and Trace, and therefore, "they could have ordered [Ms. Campbell] to close the door or they could have used a check command to make sure the dog doesn't enter. An officer can't just have a dog free wheel, I have no control over this." R.25:41; App.141.

According to the State, because Trace was initially "scanning" instead of "detailing," no search occurred. R.25:35-36; App.135-36.

Mr. Poquette: So you can't direct the dog. You can't say go into the car. You can't give him a command, get in that car and find the drugs. None of those things can happen.

The Court: But if you are scanning and he is on a leash and he does it himself then that the [sic] okay, right?

Mr. Poquette: Right.

R.25:35-36; App.135-36.

The circuit court deferred its decision and subsequently issued an oral ruling on July 9, 2019. The court denied the suppression motion as follows:

I think that I made some findings because based on the testimony I guess what is basically relevant is the fact that the Court does find credible the testimony of Deputy, excuse me, Sergeant Al-Moghrabi regarding what took place. That the door to the vehicle was left open. That the dog was on a loose leash. At the initial search, or the initial sniff of the vehicle the dog, without any direction from the law enforcement officer, jumped into the vehicle that was left open by the passenger. The cops did not ask them to open the door, did not tell them to leave the door open, it was just left open.

It's pretty clear to me after having reviewed the case law, and I'm looking at one of the more recent cases, the "Guidry" case, that there is no 4th Amendment violation here when a dog jumps instinctively through an open car door without any facilitation by its handler. If, in some of these cases, like "Winningham" there appears to be an order by the cop to keep the door open and either a command to go into the car. But what is relevant here is that there was no requirement by the police officers to keep the door open. No order by the cops to have the dog jump in. The dog jumped in. And I think under the case law that is not a violation of the 4th Amendment.

R. 22:2-3; App.153-54.

 $^{^5}$ United States v. Guidry, 817 F.3d 997 (7th Cir. 2016).

⁶ United States v. Winningham, 140 F.3d 1328 (10th Cir. 1998).

Following the denial of her suppression motion, Ms. Campbell entered a no contest plea to Possession of THC, a violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(e). R.11. This appeal follows.⁷

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A dog sniff conducted inside a person's vehicle is a search. Before Trace climbed into Ms. Campbell's vehicle to sniff for drugs, there was no probable cause to search. Therefore, this was a violation of Ms. Campbell's Fourth Amendment rights. This was a straightforward case until the State proposed an exception to the Fourth Amendment for a category of otherwise unlawful dog sniffs: those attributable to the canine's uncontrolled instinct. This Court should decline to adopt the proposed instinct exception. However, even if the Court applies an instinct exception, Ms. Campbell still prevails because the State cannot meet the exception in her case.

⁷ An order denying a motion to suppress evidence may be reviewed upon appeal despite a plea. Wis. Stat. § 808.03(3).

ARGUMENT

I. Law Enforcement Violated Ms. Campbell's Fourth Amendment Rights by Allowing a Police Dog to Enter Her Vehicle to Sniff for Drugs.

A. Standard of review

An order denying a motion to suppress evidence is a question of constitutional fact, reviewed under a two-step standard. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶2, 240 Wis. 2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781. The circuit court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error. Application of the law to those facts is de novo. *Id.* The State bears the burden of proving the lawfulness of a warrantless search. *State v. Kieffer*, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541, 577 N.W.2d 352 (1998).

B. A dog sniff conducted inside a person's vehicle is a search.

The Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable search and seizures extends to vehicles. *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 404 (2012).⁸ In general, searches conducted without a warrant are unreasonable. However, there are "a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions" to the

⁸ The seizure is not challenged in this case. Whether a seizure is reasonable depends on whether (1) "the seizure was justified at its inception" and (2) the "officer's action 'was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 20, (1968)).

warrant requirement *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). One such exception is the automobile exception. Under the automobile exception, police may conduct a warrantless search if the vehicle is readily mobile and there is probable cause to believe contraband is in the vehicle. *State v. Jackson*, 2013 WI App 66, ¶¶8, 27, 248 Wis. 2d 103, 831 N.W.2d 426 (citing *Carroll v. United States*, 267 U.S. 132 (1925)).

Law enforcement officers routinely deploy specially trained drug-sniffing canines in order to develop probable cause to search a vehicle. In the most common scenario, handlers walk their forensic canines around the outside of the vehicle, and if the canine alerts to the odor of drugs, this amounts to probable cause to search the vehicle. *See State v. Miller*, 2002 WI App 150, ¶12, 256 Wis. 2d 80, 647 N.W.2d 348 (police dog reliably alerting to the presence of drugs from the exterior of the vehicle supplied probable cause to search). ¹⁰

⁹ There is no dispute in this case that Ms. Campbell's vehicle was readily mobile. The issue is probable cause, or lack thereof.

¹⁰ Although the seizure is not at issue in this appeal, it is helpful to note that many dog sniff cases center on the effect of the dog sniff on the validity of a seizure. When there is no reasonable suspicion to believe that a car contains drug evidence, a traffic stop may not be prolonged to enable a drug dog to arrive on scene. *Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. 348, 354 (2015). However, if a drug dog arrives while the traffic stop is ongoing (i.e. the mission of the traffic stop has not yet completed), the dog sniff does not affect the Fourth Amendment analysis. *Id.* at 355.

Ordering a police canine to sniff a person or property for the odor of drugs can amount to a Fourth Amendment search, depending on where the dog sniff takes place. The United States Supreme Court first considered whether dog sniffs were searches in situations where the sniffs occurred in public places. In the context of a public place, the dog sniffs were not deemed searches. *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696, 707 (1983) (dog sniff of luggage at the airport was not a search); *City of Indianapolis v. Edmond*, 531 U.S. 32, 40 (2000) (dog sniff around exterior of vehicle not a search); *Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 409 (2005) (reiterating that dog sniff around exterior of vehicle not a search).¹¹

Subsequently, in *Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. at 7, the Supreme Court held that dog sniffs conducted in constitutionally protected places (as opposed to public places) are searches. In *Jardines*, law enforcement walked up to a person's front porch with a drug sniffing canine. The canine alerted to the odor of drugs. The United States Supreme Court held that because the dog sniff occurred on the defendant's front porch, which was part of the home's curtilage,

¹¹ See also, State v. Garcia, 195 Wis. 2d 68, 74-75, 535 N.W.2d 124 (Ct. App. 1995) (a person does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the "air space surrounding a vehicle that is occupying a public place.").

the sniff amounted to a search. Id. 12

Vehicles, like homes, are constitutionally protected places; therefore, a dog sniff that occurs inside a vehicle is a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *See Miller*, 256 Wis. 2d 80, ¶12. As with any search, probable cause is required. *Id.*, ¶12.

C. There was no probable cause to search Ms. Campbell's vehicle.

There was no probable cause to search Ms. Campbell's vehicle when Trace entered her vehicle to sniff for drugs. The State has not argued otherwise. This was a routine traffic stop. The basis for the stop was a missing front license plate and a seatbelt violation. R.25:1-2; App.101-02. It was then determined that Ms. Campbell's driver's license was suspended. R.25:8; App.108. There was no reason to suspect drug activity until after Trace entered the vehicle and alerted to the odor of marijuana. A reliable alert can amount to probable cause for police to enter and examine the vehicle. *Miller*, 256 Wis. 2d 80, ¶12. However, by the time of the alert (and hence the formation of probable cause) an unlawful search had already occurred.

¹² There are two ways that police conduct an amount to a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment: (1) physical intrusion into a protected place (common law trespass) and (2) intrusion into a person's reasonable expectation of privacy. *Jones*, 566 U.S. at 406-07. The trespass rule formed the basis for the Court's holding in *Jardines*. 569 U.S. at 11.

Case 2020AP001813

Law enforcement conducted a dog sniff search inside Ms. Campbell's vehicle without probable cause, in violation of her Fourth Amendment rights. The marijuana evidence discovered as a direct result of the search must be suppressed. Wong Sun v. U.S., 371 U.S. 471, 484-85 (1963) (the exclusionary rule is the remedy for a Fourth Amendment violation); see also, State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, ¶10, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305.

To avoid this straightforward result, the State advocates for a novel Fourth Amendment exception, as discussed next.

II. This Court Should Decline to Adopt a Broad "Instinct" Exception for Otherwise Unlawful Dog Sniffs.

A. Standard of review.

Whether police action amounts to a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is a of law, reviewed question de novo. 256 Wis. 2d 80, ¶5 (internal citation omitted).

> В. Fourth Amendment cannot sidestepped by labeling certain police canine activity "instinctual."

In the circuit court the State did not dispute that a dog sniff conducted in the interior of a vehicle is normally a Fourth Amendment search. It also did not dispute that there was no probable cause in Ms. Campbell's case prior to Trace's entries into her vehicle. However, it argued that there should be an exception made where a police dog instinctively enters a vehicle without direction from its handler. The State argued "[A]s long as law enforcement does not direct the dog to a location or give a command that says, hey, you need to search here, then it's a fair search." R.25:46; App.146. The circuit court agreed and determined that: "there is no 4th Amendment violation here when a dog jumps instinctively through an open car door without any facilitation by its handler." R. 22:2-3; App.153-54.

This Court should reject the State's position and the circuit court's broad ruling. Wisconsin has never recognized this type of instinct exception for otherwise unlawful police dog activity. Nor has the United States Supreme Court. For support, the State and circuit court relied upon nonbinding decisions from federal circuit courts. As will be demonstrated, the reasoning from these cases should not be followed, primarily because the cases pre-date *Jardines* and for additional reasons as well.

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