Filed 10-03-2022

FILED 10-03-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2020AP1813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ASHLEY JEAN CAMPBELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE SAWYER COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN M. YACKEL, PRESIDING

SUBSTITUTE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-3519 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) blimlingja@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Campbell's motion to suppress.

A. A police dog conducting a sniff around the perimeter of a vehicle on a public roadway is not a search within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated." U.S. Const. amend IV. Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution contains a nearly identical prohibition on unreasonable searches and seizures.¹

When a suspect drives a vehicle on a public roadway, however, she has a diminished expectation of privacy in that vehicle. *California v. Carney*, 471 U.S. 386, 393 (1985). Among the ways that diminished expectation manifests is the ability of police to conduct a dog sniff around the perimeter of the suspect's vehicle while a traffic stop is ongoing. *See Illinois v. Caballes*, 543 U.S. 405, 410 (2005).

In *Caballes*, an officer stopped Caballes for speeding. While one officer processed the speeding violation, another officer walked a drug-detection dog around Caballes' automobile. *Id.* at 406. The dog alerted to the trunk. *Id.* During a search, officers found marijuana in the trunk. *Id.* In deciding the case, the Supreme Court assumed that the officers lacked a reasonable suspicion that the automobile contained drugs. *Id.* at 407. The Supreme Court nevertheless held that "[a] dog sniff conducted during a concededly lawful traffic stop that reveals no information other than the location of a substance that no individual has any right to possess does not violate the Fourth Amendment." *Id.* at 410.²

¹ "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated." Wis. Const. art. I, § 11. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has regularly held that the protections afforded by this section of the Wisconsin Constitution are identical to those created by the Fourth Amendment, except in extremely limited cases. *See, e.g., State v. Dearborn,* 2010 WI 84, ¶ 14, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97.

 $^{^2}$ Caballes is consistent with a prior Supreme Court decision in United States v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983), which involved the use of a drug-detection dog on luggage seized at an airport. The Court there held that a trained drug-detection dog's sniff of a person's luggage located in a public place "did not

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has followed suit. In *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 3, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748, the court held "that a dog sniff of the exterior of a vehicle located in a public place does not constitute a search under the Wisconsin Constitution." But the court went on to recognize that unreasonably prolonging a traffic stop to conduct a canine sniff may violate the prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.³ *Id.* ¶¶ 25, 38.

In 2012, the United States Supreme Court considered the warrantless, surreptitious application of a GPS tracking device to a suspect's vehicle in United States v. Jones, 565 U.S. 400, 402 (2012). The Court made clear, however, that the trespass analysis was not the sole consideration when determining whether a government action constituted a search; a suspect's reasonable expectation of privacy could still render government activity a "search" even without trespass. Id. at 406–07. The Court held that, regardless of whether Jones had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the undercarriage of his vehicle and/or in his location and travels in that vehicle, the police had conducted a "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment because placing the GPS tracker involved the "physical[] occup[ation of private property for the purpose of obtaining information." Id. at 404–05.

The next year, the Supreme Court revisited the law surrounding dog sniffs in *Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1 (2013). In that case, officers entered the curtilage of Jardines' home with a drug-sniffing canine. *Id.* at 3. Based

constitute a 'search' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *Id.* at 707.

³ The United States Supreme Court confirmed this understanding of the Fourth Amendment in *Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. 348 (2015).

on the canine's alert to the front door, officers obtained a warrant that resulted in the seizure of marijuana and Jardines' prosecution. *Id.* at 3–4.

The Supreme Court held that "[t]he government's use of trained police dogs to investigate the home and its *immediate surroundings* is a 'search' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 11-12 (emphasis added). In reaching this conclusion, the court's decision rested heavily on its analysis that the dog sniff occurred within a constitutionally protected area-the curtilage of Jardines' home. Id. at 6–7. While acknowledging that people, including the police, have a customary license to initiate contact with a home's occupants, the Court determined that such a customary license does not embrace the introduction of a trained canine to detect incriminating evidence within the home. Id. at 8-9. The Court thus concluded that the introduction of the canine to the curtilage for the purpose of conducting a sniff was a trespassory search violating the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 11.

B. A police canine conducting a lawful sniff around a vehicle in a public place does not violate a suspect's Fourth Amendment rights by entering the vehicle without direction or facilitation from its handler.

While the law discussed above provides ample discussion of canine sniffs occurring in public places and within a suspect's curtilage, one area that remains unsettled in Wisconsin is the constitutional implication when a police canine, without direction from its handler, enters a suspect's vehicle in a public place and immediately indicates the presence of drugs. A number of other jurisdictions have considered the question, however, and arrived at what is sometimes called the "instinct exception." These cases generally hold that a police canine's intrusion into a suspect's vehicle does not violate the Fourth Amendment so long as its handler neither directed the canine into the vehicle nor facilitated its entry by, for example, opening a door.

In United States v. Stone, 866 F.2d 359 (10th Cir. 1989), the Tenth Circuit considered whether an unlawful search had occurred where a police canine jumped in the open hatchback of a suspect's vehicle and "keyed" on a duffle bag, later revealed to contain methaqualone. Id. at 361. The court commented that even though there was no problem with the sniff of the exterior of Stone's car. "the dog created a troubling issue under the Fourth Amendment when it entered the hatchback." Id. at 363. The court rejected Stone's argument that the dog's entry into the hatchback constituted a search, however, reasoning that police had neither opened the hatchback nor directed the dog inside; the officer "just let [the dog's] leash go and let him go where his nose would take him." Id. at 362–64. In so holding, the court distinguished cases involving suspects' homes, noting the "heightened expectation of privacy" one has at home. Id. at 363 n.1.

The Tenth Circuit revisited the issue in United States v. Winningham, 140 F.3d 1328 (10th Cir. 1998). Like Stone, Winningham involved a canine sniff occurring within a suspect's vehicle. Id. at 1329–30. Stone, however, differed in two key respects. First, the police in Winningham opened the door to the suspect's van and evinced a desire to "facilitate" the canine's entry into the van to conduct the sniff by unleashing it as it approached the open door, whereas the canine in Stone jumped in the suspect's vehicle of its own accord. Id. at 1330–31. Second, the police in Stone had reasonable suspicion that Stone was trafficking drugs, while the police in Winningham continued to detain the suspect to await a canine for a sniff after reasonable suspicion had abated.⁴ *Id.* at 1331. Based on these distinctions, the court determined that the outcome of the case turned on the scope of the suspect's consent to the continued detention and sniff. *Id.* The court ultimately concluded that Winningham's consent to the search was involuntary and affirmed the district court's order granting a motion to suppress. *Id.* at 1332–33.

Other circuits have found sniffs similar to the one in Stone not to violate the Fourth Amendment. For example, in United States v. Lyons, 486 F.3d 367 (8th Cir. 2007), the Eighth Circuit rejected a challenge to a dog sniff where the canine stuck its head through an open passenger-side window before alerting. Id. at 373. Noting that the officer "did not create the opportunity for the dog to breach the interior of the vehicle," the court held that, "[a]bsent police misconduct, the instinctive actions of a trained canine do not violate the Fourth Amendment." Id. (citing United States v.

⁴ The Tenth Circuit's decisions in Stone (1989) and Winningham (1998) both pre-date the Supreme Court's decisions in Caballes (2005) and Rodriguez (2015). The latter cases concerned reasonable suspicion in the canine sniff context; specifically, whether reasonable suspicion is necessary to conduct a sniff when it does not extend a stop (it is not), and whether reasonable suspicion is necessary to extend a stop for a sniff (it is). See Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 410 (2005); Rodriguez, 575 U.S. at 354–57. These were open questions in Stone that the court did not reach because it did not need to, given the presence of reasonable suspicion. See United States v. Stone, 866 F.2d 359, 363 n.2 (10th Cir. 1989). As for Winningham, the abatement of reasonable suspicion and subsequent extension of the stop there would have dictated the outcome under *Rodriguez*. Thus, while Stone and Winningham can be read as placing an emphasis on the presence of reasonable suspicion, the State would argue that the discussions of reasonable suspicion therein primarily go to the principles later espoused in Caballes and Rodriguez rather than the applicability of the instinct exception.

Reed, 141 F.3d 644, 650 (6th Cir. 1998); United States v. Lyons, 957 F.2d 615, 617 (8th Cir. 1992); Stone, 866 F.2d at 364). In 2010, the Third Circuit similarly concluded that there was no Fourth Amendment violation when a dog jumped into a vehicle through an open door "without facilitation by his handler." See United States v. Pierce, 622 F.3d 209, 214–15 (3d Cir. 2010). More recently, the Seventh Circuit also favorably discussed the "instinct exception," distinguishing Winningham because the police there intended to facilitate the dog's entry into the suspect's vehicle by opening the door and removing the leash. See Guidry, 817 F.3d at 1006.

Logically, this approach makes sense. A canine that enters a suspect's vehicle without the direction or facilitation of his handler is likely to be following its instinct by either (a) seeking out an odor that it is trained to seek out, or (b) pursuing a scent that it already detected outside the vehicle. In the latter situation, police actually may have developed probable cause for a search in the moments preceding the dog's entry into the vehicle, but establishing the probable cause may prove difficult after the fact given the rapid succession of events. Under those circumstances, a suspect could actually benefit from making it easier for a police canine to enter the vehicle, as evidence that would have been uncovered anyways would become excludable without the instinct exception. The Fourth Amendment should not require that a suspect receive a windfall in the form of excluded evidence simply because the odor of drugs in her vehicle was so prevalent and accessible that a canine went straight to it.

In the former situation, even if a police canine has not yet detected the odor of drugs when it enters the suspect's vehicle, the dog's entry still does not render the search unreasonable. As discussed, individuals have a lower expectation of privacy in the contents of a vehicle driven on a public roadway, and an even lower expectation of privacy when those contents are illegal drugs. *See Carney*, 471 U.S. at 393; *Caballes*, 543 U.S. at 410. A police canine's brief, unsolicited entry into a vehicle on a public roadway that will uncover only the possession of illegal drugs does not run afoul of the Fourth Amendment given those principles.

To be sure, not every jurisdiction agrees. For example, the Supreme Court of Idaho recently declined to adopt the instinct exception, reasoning that if a dog is following a detected scent into a vehicle, it requires post hoc conclusion about the dog's behavior rather than an assessment of what was known to officers at the time of the entry. *See State v. Randall*, 496 P.3d 844, 854 (Idaho 2021). If the dog had not yet detected the scent, the court continued, then the dog's entry into the vehicle simply ran afoul of *Jardines* and *Jones. See id*.

Campbell's argument against adoption of the instinct exception echoes this position, relying heavily on *Jardines* for the proposition that *any* dog sniff in *any* "constitutionally protected place" is a search. (Campbell's Br. 24–26.) But this overstates the holding in *Jardines*. The *Jardines* Court was particularly concerned with the fact that the dog sniff there took place within the curtilage of the suspect's home. *See Jardines*, 569 U.S. at 11–12. Even though the Court held there that a warrantless, police-directed dog sniff occurring within the curtilage of a suspect's home violates the Fourth Amendment, it does not follow that a dog sniff occurring of the dog's own accord in a vehicle being operated on a public roadway similarly fails constitutional muster.

Moreover, both *Jones* and *Jardines* involved *intentional* trespasses by police. In *Jones*, for example, the Court described the government's action as the "physical[] occup[ation of] private property for the purpose of obtaining information." *Jones*, 565 U.S. at 404–05. Instinct exception cases, on the other hand, tend to find no Fourth Amendment violation when the canine's conduct occurred without the facilitation of the handler; that is, when any trespass was not intended by police. To be sure, an officer running a canine around a suspect's vehicle for a sniff is doing so "for the purpose of obtaining information." *See id.* But that is not the purpose of the trespass, nor will a trespass usually be necessary for the officer to obtain the information they seek. Rather, in an instinct exception case, the trespass—if any—occurs independent of the police action.

On balance, the jurisdictions adopting the instinct exception and holding that a canine's entry into a vehicle does not violate Fourth Amendment when it is neither facilitated nor directed by police have the correct position. "The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness," Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250(1991), and such an entry is simply not unreasonable. This Court should follow those jurisdictions and recognize the viability of the instinct exception.

C. The sniff did not violate Campbell's Fourth Amendment rights because Trace did not enter Campbell's vehicle at police direction, nor did police open the door Trace entered.

If this Court adopts the instinct exception as discussed above, resolution of this case is straightforward. The circuit court found that Campbell left the door to her vehicle open without being directed to by the officers. (R. 22:2.) It further found that Trace entered Campbell's vehicle through that open door without direction from his handler. (R. 22:2.) This case is thus very similar to *Stone*, *Lyons*, *Pierce*, and the like, and this Court should conclude that the circuit court properly denied Campbell's motion to suppress.

Campbell argues that even if the instinct exception applies, it is not met because Sergeant Al-Moghrabi

"facilitated" Trace's entry into her vehicle and because police lacked reasonable suspicion that her vehicle contained drugs. (Campbell's Br. 33-34.) With respect to the second point, Campbell notes that police in *Guidry* had probable cause to enter the suspect's vehicle. (Campbell's Br. 34.) True, but the *Guidry* court noted the presence of probable cause as an *equally important* reason why there was no Fourth Amendment violation, not as a required condition. See Guidry, 817 F.3d at 1006. This makes sense; when police have probable cause that a vehicle contains evidence of a criminal offense, a search of the vehicle is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. See Maryland v. Dyson, 527 U.S. 465, 466–67 (1999). Thus, any rule requiring probable cause for the instinct exception to apply would be superfluous, as the automobile exception would swallow the instinct exception.

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